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  Introduction




  Setting the Crime Scene




  

    

      “Tis strange – but true; for truth is always strange; stranger than fiction.”




      Lord Byron


    


  




  This book of bizarre murders was conceived in the gentle ambience of a garden party. The late Wilf Gregg, a chronicler of the criminous, held an annual lunch at his Middlesex

  home attended by friends, fellow crime writers and criminologists of every denomination.




  One of the benefits of Wilf’s hospitality was to browse in his extensive library of books on true crime and his meticulously archived collection of press cuttings. While idly turning the

  pages of books and leafing through press reports of murder cases, we commented not only on the sheer variety of murders but on the esoteric nature of the events described. Exclamations such as

  unbelievable, weird and bizarre came readily to mind.




  It might be thought that murder presented as fictional entertainment on cinema and television screens is frequently implausible. Yet in its bizarre, extraordinary and frequently farcical

  consequences it is invariably bettered by the real thing – truth really is stranger than fiction. This is often borne out in real life. It certainly applies to the realm of murder where it is

  underwritten by the circumstances and exotic details of many crimes. The reported details of murders featuring in the news media frequently fall into that category where the conclusion is,

  “You couldn’t make it up!” Why not, we thought, compile a collection of true murder stories distinguished by their stranger-than-fiction content?




  A cursory glance at a few randomly selected newspaper headlines illustrates the point. A German man weighing 127 kg (280 lb) squashed his wife to death following a domestic dispute. In China, a

  woman was reported to have killed her lover by kissing him while releasing a capsule containing rat poison which she held in her mouth. And, in Britain, a promiscuous married woman disposed of her

  unwanted husband by spiking his steak and kidney pie with toxic garden chemicals. The victim ill-advisedly kept a supply of paraquat in the garden shed and his wife saw her opportunity (see

  Chapter 13).




  Apart from the variety of methods, what many of these murders have in common is that they were committed in a domestic setting and were conceived as a way of solving personal problems. These

  incidents also underline one of the important common denominators of murder which is that murderer and victim, more frequently than not, are known to each other.




  Murder seems to attract weird behaviour beyond the basic elements of one person killing another. Tremayne Durham, for instance, a murder suspect in custody in the USA, became fed up with the

  monotonous institutional food he was served in prison and arranged a plea-bargain whereby he would admit guilt in return for a chicken dinner. The internet has inspired a boom in the sale of prison

  memorabilia manufactured by prison inmates serving life sentences for murder. Self-portraits of serial killers are popular and form part of a new merchandising sector which has been called

  psychopathic handicrafts.




  Murder is rooted in the ordinary and, sometimes, extraordinary, activities of human beings hence they encompass the full scope and depth of human diversity. For example, the motive that drove a

  grandfather to sacrifice his ten-year-old granddaughter in India in 2009 was to ensure a good harvest. While every excess of which the human mind is capable has probably been catalogued in one form

  or another, a killing such as this seems to belong to a primitive era.




  The acid test of murder is intention and what the law calls mens rea or guilty mind. Guilty intention is described as malice aforethought and it is this which distinguishes it from

  manslaughter. The classic definition of murder based on malice aforethought goes back to English Common Law and takes account of the age and mental status of the offender. This was set out by Lord

  Chief Justice Edward Coke (1552–1634) when he referred to “a man of sound memory and at the age of discretion”. In practical terms, this meant an individual who was not insane and

  aged at least ten years.




  While intention is all-important and constitutes the essence of what murder is, there are other factors that give structure to the act of killing. These broadly come together as modus operandi

  and may be defined as motive, method and opportunity. No matter how bizarre the circumstances of a particular murder, it will be given substance by the perpetrator’s attention to these three

  principles. They are the factors that energize and give form to the intention to kill.




  Other behavioural patterns emerge periodically and these are reflected in official figures and studies of homicide. Analysis of homicide statistics over a ten-year period in New York City has

  shown that while murder rates in general have declined there are peaks during the summer months, July to September. This is a time when people socialize more frequently and when drinking and

  drug-taking become more prevalent. Emotional temperatures tend to rise, creating an environment in which violence lurks in the shadows. When murder erupts, it is in a familiar context involving

  husbands, wives and lovers.




  The weapon of choice in these scenarios is the handgun. Fears about possible curbs on the purchase of firearms in the USA in 2009 led to a boost in weapon sales. The arguments about gun control

  were emphasized by a spate of shootings in several states, including the killing of Dr George Tiller, a late-term abortion doctor gunned down in the lobby of the Lutheran church in Wichita, Kansas

  where he worshipped.




  Homicide figures in the UK for 2007/8 showed a decline in the annual murder rate for England and Wales. Patterns indicated that female murder victims were most likely to be killed by someone

  known to them. One reason given for the decline in homicide was more effective emergency medical treatment of knife and gunshot wounds. Injuries which would have resulted in murder were not fatal

  and thus the crime reduced to attempted murder.




  In common with all human activities, murder has evolved over time, absorbing and reflecting changes in social conditions with greater awareness and self-knowledge on the part of individuals. Yet

  underlying this sophistication lie dark forces that come to the surface when triggered by elemental drives such as self-preservation, ambition, power, aggression and domination.




  The collision of basic instincts and moral values has been explored by some of the great novelists such as Emile Zola and Fyodor Dostoevsky. In La Bête Humaine Zola gives a portrait

  of a personality tormented by the struggle between his social nature, or better self, and a desire to test his powers to the absolute limit. It is not the intention of this book to dwell on the

  psychology of murder. This has been admirably achieved by others and, in particular, by Colin Wilson in his book, Order of Assassins. We are concerned here, though, with what happens when

  the threshold of intention, of malice aforethought, is crossed and actions lurch into the unpredictable realm of the extraordinary and idiosyncratic.




  Premeditation should, theoretically at least, afford the best possibility for committing the perfect murder. This seems logical compared with crimes of passion which, by their nature, pay scant

  regard to either caution or discretion. They just happen.




  Most murders are committed by people who in the ordinary course of events would be regarded as normal and rational. They are the sort of people who would be expected to make some sort of risk

  assessment before investing their money or committing themselves to a new business venture; the sort of people who, having formed the intention to extinguish the life of another human being, might

  formulate some kind of murder management plan after taking into consideration factors such as method and opportunity, assessing risk factors and allowing for contingencies. But how often do

  they?




  There are exceptions, such as the teenage daughter of a millionaire businessman who compiled what amounted to a murder blueprint. Her intention was to enrich herself by killing a wealthy elderly

  person. She committed a detailed action plan to paper, together with a list of equipment needed for the task. Her mistake was to leave the blueprint where it could be found and provide

  incriminating evidence against her (see Chapter 13).




  The murderer’s chief aim is to fulfil the intention while minimizing the chances of being caught – the essence of perfect murder. Yet, at the very moment when planning is called for,

  calm detachment quickly turns into unforeseen turmoil. Rationality gives way to the beast within and events take an uncharted and erratic course. The release of elemental forces precipitates

  unthinking responses to the trauma of death, once the murderer’s intention is made real. Confronted with his victim’s corpse, possibly bloodied by violence, the first decision is

  whether to stay or flee. Already, the forensic trail has been started and every subsequent action is likely to leave a footfall, fingerprint or fibre behind. After all, it is the detectives’

  mantra that every murderer makes mistakes.




  There are at least two groups of people who should, theoretically at least, be competent at carrying out the intention to kill: first, those who choose not to bloody their hands and can afford

  to pay someone else to do their dirty work for them, which puts distance between themselves and their victim. Such plans often come unstuck, however, because the hit man lacks guilty intention and

  falls down on attention to detail but the converse of this is politically motivated assassination where resources and professionalism come together with lethal efficiency (see Chapter

  9).




  The second group that might be expected to have a head start over everyone else consists of members of the medical and nursing professions, who have the knowledge, skills and agents at their

  disposal. In practice, though, they frequently turn out to be bunglers when it comes to murder and their professional acumen deserts them when they most need it. An example is the Austrian doctor

  who successfully murdered his mistress but kept her head as a sort of trophy in a jar of preserving fluid (see Chapter 3).




  Accounts are given here of nearly three hundred murder cases. For convenience, they are grouped under chapter headings such as, Parts and Parcels, Justice Delayed and Motive,

  Method and Opportunity, which are broadly descriptive. The classification is fairly loose as many of the murders would fit into several categories.




  Thomas de Quincey wrote an essay, published in 1827, entitled, On Murder Considered as a Fine Art. He talked about a Society of Connoisseurs of Murder who he thought might be called

  “murder fanciers”. They would meet from time to time to discuss the latest crimes and offer a critique of them in a similar way to making an appraisal of a work of art.




  Perhaps the murderer’s canvas is his crime scene on which he leaves his bloody brush strokes, either by design or by default? The Dali Murders (see Chapter 7) are possibly the best

  example of death imitating art. Thomas Griffiths Wainewright was an artist who turned to murder and Walter Sickert painted murder victims, although none were claimed by him, unless the accusation

  that he was Jack the Ripper is ever substantiated.




  But the demise of Isidor Fink in a locked room in New York City probably best qualifies as murder considered as a fine art. The fatal shooting of the thirty-three-year-old laundryman has defied

  resolution for eighty years. In every sense, it is the perfect murder (see Chapter 14).




  While we might share the fascination of De Quincey’s connoisseurs of murder, we might also be mindful that every murder claims a victim. Murder is undeniably part of the human condition

  with its roots in the primitive recesses of the brain where moral restraints are overridden by the dark forces of malice. To read about murder is to open a door into the territory occupied by those

  who transgress the boundaries observed by civilized society. We may be shocked, entertained or informed by what we read, while knowing that in murder cases the unbelievable is all too often

  true.




  In 2009, Vincent Bugliosi, the US attorney who led the prosecution in the Manson murder trial in the late 1960s, was reported as saying that the killings were the most bizarre murders in the

  history of American crime. He commented that, “If they had been written as fiction no one would have read it. It would have seemed too far out.” And, as Thomas de Quincey reminded his

  readers, using a question framed by Lactanius, the Roman poet; “What is so dreadful; what so dismal and revolting, as the murder of a human creature?”




  Robin Odell




  


     

  




  CHAPTER 1




  The Dog and the Parrot




  Animals frequently play a part in the chronicles of crime. Their role has usually been in a supporting capacity and only occasionally as killers. London newspapers in 1876

  reported a “Murderous Attack by a Gorilla” armed with a cut-throat razor in France. The Victorians were fascinated by images of young maidens being attacked by snakes, cats and sea

  monsters.




  The savage natural instincts of animals have sometimes been harnessed by murderers for their capacity to destroy evidence of a crime. Thus in 1937 did Joe Ball, proprietor of The Sociable Inn

  in Elmendorf Texas, dispose of his victims by feeding them to crocodiles and, in 1960, the Hosein brothers, in all likelihood, fed the remains of their murder victim to the pigs at Rooks

  Farm.




  Only rarely are the lethal attributes of animals used as a murder weapon. Robert James thought he had found a novel way of disposing of his wife by setting rattlesnakes on to her. They failed

  to kill her quickly enough, though, so he resorted to drowning to make sure.




  Whether kept as domestic pets or farm animals, dogs are often encountered by unwanted visitors and are only too willing to attack intruders or alert their owners. Sir Arthur Conan Doyle

  referred to “The curious incident of the dog in the night time”, when a dog did not bark because it recognized the intruder intent on stealing a racehorse. The dog kept by the landlady

  of the Cross Keys Inn in London’s Chelsea area clearly knew the individual who robbed and killed its mistress in 1920. The dog did not bark but the killer gave himself away by other

  means.




  Possibly the most unusual intervention by an animal was that of a green parrot which witnessed the killing of its owner in a New York bar in 1942. Gifted with the power of

  calling out the names of people it knew, the parrot acted as a police informer by identifying the murderer.




  Listen To The Parrot




  The Green Parrot Restaurant in Harlem, New York City, was a popular watering hole and the bar was presided over by the owner’s parrot. The bird had a useful

  vocabulary and knew many customers by their first name. Max Geller, the owner, refused all offers to sell his parrot, one of whose tricks was to insult the patrons.




  On the evening of 12 July 1942, there was a shooting at the Green Parrot Restaurant. A man came into the bar and demanded a drink, a request that was refused by Max Geller because the man was

  already drunk. The angry customer pulled a gun, shot Geller and disappeared into the busy street.




  Max Geller died three weeks later. The gunshot wound he sustained in the throat had damaged his vocal cords and he was unable to speak. When the police arrived at the bar, they questioned people

  who had been present but with little positive result. Pedestrians talked of seeing a man fleeing from the bar with a gun in his hand. The most vocal witness was the Green Parrot. The bird was

  agitated and kept shouting, “Robber! Robber!” The police captain summed up progress with the words “we have a dying victim who can’t talk, twenty witnesses who won’t

  and a squawking parrot we can’t shut up!”




  The usual suspects were questioned but to no avail and the investigation into the murder was beginning to founder when someone suggested that the parrot, known for addressing patrons by their

  first name, might not be saying, “Robber! Robber!” but “Robert, Robert”. With this new line of enquiry, detectives began checking on the late Max Geller’s customers

  who were called Robert. By a process of elimination, they arrived at the name of Robert Butler.




  Butler was a cab-driver who frequented the Green Parrot but had disappeared since the shooting. His friends had no knowledge of his whereabouts and a year went by with no

  progress in the efforts to locate him. But determined detective work eventually traced Butler to the Bethlehem Steel plant at Baltimore.




  Officers were waiting for him when he came off the late night shift. Butler said he had left New York after a quarrel with his wife but agreed to accompany detectives back to Harlem. Asked if he

  knew anything about the shooting of Max Geller he responded with a question of his own; “What makes you think I did it?” One of the officers enquired, “What do you think of

  Geller’s parrot?” “Smart bird”, came the reply. When told that the parrot had named him, Butler said, “I never did like that bird”.




  Charged with murder, Butler said that he had got into trouble over gambling and armed himself for protection. He had a few drinks because he was scared and was angry when Geller refused to serve

  him. In his fury, he drew his gun and shot the restaurant owner. Tried for murder in February 1944, Butler was convicted and sentenced to up to fifteen years in Sing Sing. History does not relate

  what happened to the parrot.




  Silent Pooch




  The dog that did not bark in the night added a strange dimension to an unsolved murder in the UK’s capital in 1920.




  Fifty-three-year-old Frances Buxton was the licensee of the Cross Keys Inn in Chelsea. She was regarded as rather eccentric, living alone at the pub since her estrangement from her husband and

  having as her sole companion a pet Pomeranian dog. She was thought to be secretive and a bit of a hoarder.




  On the night of 18 January 1920, a policeman patrolling in Lawrence Street noticed smoke coming from the Cross Keys Inn. He promptly called the fire brigade and the blaze was put out. A search

  of the premises revealed Frances Buxton’s body in the cellar. She was dead from head wounds inflicted with an axe or knife. The body had been covered with sawdust and sacking which had been

  set on fire.




  Examination of the body showed the full extent of the battering she had received; her features were practically unrecognizable. It also appeared as if an attempt had been made

  to strangle her. The dead woman’s pet dog was found in the room behind the bar, unharmed and apparently unalarmed. Curiously, the dog had not reacted to the disturbance by barking. Neighbours

  found this odd as the animal had a shrill bark with which it greeted strangers.




  The motive for the murder seemed to be robbery. Frances Buxton was in the habit of keeping her bar takings in a basket beside her bed. She also had a collection of valuable jewellery including

  diamond brooches, gold rings and bracelets, which had disappeared, presumably stolen by her attacker.




  Her ex-husband was interviewed by detectives and was cleared of suspicion. There was, though, talk of a tall stranger who had visited the Cross Keys Inn and taken a fancy to the lady behind the

  bar in her sparkling jewellery. In the manner of the day, bar staff thought he was their employer’s fancy man. This individual was never traced and neither was the stolen jewellery.




  The murder investigation was losing impetus when a witness at a magistrates’ hearing four years later into an assault case announced that one of his relatives had information about the

  Chelsea murder. Like other possible leads, this came to nothing. There was a similar negative outcome to an alleged confession made by a man being held in a French prison. This turned out to be a

  hoax. Another suggestion regarding a motive other than robbery for killing Frances Buxton, a lady with a string of lovers, was that she had infected one of them with venereal disease and he took

  his revenge.




  If the dead woman’s pet dog was performing to type by not barking, it seems likely that the intruder on the winter’s night was not a stranger.




  Inside Job




  In the early hours of 1 August 1980 an intruder gained entry to the house of the Marques de Urquizo in the Somosauguas district of Madrid in Spain. The

  family dog did not react and the security system was disarmed. The quiet assassin shot the fifty-seven-year-old Marques with one bullet through the brain while he was sleeping and then shot the

  Marquesa with two bullets through the throat. The live-in maid registered no disturbance, possibly because she was drugged.




  The Urquizo family were wealthy members of the Spanish establishment. The Marques was head of one of the country’s most important commercial banks. The house contained a priceless art

  collection but nothing was stolen by the deadly intruder. The circumstances of the killings suggested someone with inside knowledge.




  Suspicion fell on the dead couple’s son-in-law, Rafael Escobedo. In 1978, Escobedo, the son of a lawyer, married the Urquizos’ only daughter Miriam de la Sierra against the wishes of

  her family. The marriage proved to be unhappy with heated disagreements and came to a head when the Marques cut off his daughter’s finances with a divorce pending.




  Escobedo was interviewed by the police in April 1981 during which he allegedly made a confession that he subsequently retracted. More importantly, detectives found a cache of .22 calibre

  ammunition at the home of his parents where he had set up a firing range. Ballistics tests allegedly matched some of these rounds to the bullets fired at the crime scene.




  In June 1983, Escobedo appeared on trial at Madrid’s Palace of Justice charged with murdering his wife’s parents. His estranged wife attended court supported by an American friend.

  The prosecution argued that the bullets found at Escobedo’s home matched those used in the fatal shooting. The problem was that this vital firearms evidence had disappeared since it was taken

  into safe-keeping by the police.




  Another plank in the prosecution case was the handwritten confession that was said to have been made by Escobedo. He retracted this, saying he had only written it to save his family from

  harassment. In a further embarrassment for the police, this document had also disappeared.




  Newspaper coverage of what was billed as “The Trial of the Century” emphasized the social standing of the participants, with Escobedo being described as a playboy.

  Due to police ineptitude, the evidence against the defendant was mainly circumstantial. The dog that did not bark in the night suggested an inside job and disagreements with the family over his

  marriage provided Escobedo with a possible motive. There were also strong suggestions that he had not acted alone.




  “The Trial of the Century” concluded on 7 July 1983 with a conviction for murder. Escobedo was sentenced to a jail term of fifty-three years.




  Snakes Alive!




  Robert James was a Californian barber who earned the nickname “Rattlesnake” on account of his novel method of murder. On 5 August 1935, James called the police

  to his home in La Canada telling them that he had found his wife dead in the garden pond.




  Detectives found twenty-five-year-old Mary James, who was pregnant, lying face down in six inches of water in the lily pond. Doctors established that one of her legs was badly swollen, possibly

  from an insect bite. It was thought that she might have become dizzy as a result of the bite and fallen into the pond.




  Accidental death was recorded and, several weeks later, the grieving husband collected a modest insurance payout. There matters might have rested if James had not drawn attention to himself. He

  ran a barber’s shop in Los Angeles and apparently made an offensive suggestion to a woman passing by in the street. She reported the incident to the police, which prompted the authorities to

  take a closer look at James’ background.




  They uncovered an extraordinary trail of failed marriages and questionable deaths. It seemed that James had been unlucky in his choice of partners. His first wife divorced him claiming that he

  had tortured her; the second marriage also ended in divorce and his third wife drowned in the bathtub. In each case, James had collected the insurance. His fourth wife was more astute. She refused

  to be insured, saying that strange things happened to people with life insurance.




  In the course of their now intensified enquiries, detectives came across a character called Charles Hope who had helped James in his barber shop. He had an interesting story to

  tell after investigators discovered that he obtained snakes on behalf of Robert James. Receipts were found for two rattlesnakes bought from a dealer in Long Beach known as “Snake Joe”

  at the going-rate of 75 cents per pound.




  Hope said that James had asked him to buy the snakes and he duly turned up at La Canada with two reptiles called “Lethal” and “Lightnin”. He was then drawn into

  James’ scheme to kill his wife by posing as a doctor. He told Mary that she did not look well and thought that having the baby would endanger her life. There and then, she agreed to have an

  abortion.




  “Dr” Hope prescribed whisky as an anaesthetic and once the “patient” was inebriated, James produced a box containing the two rattlesnakes and placed Mary’s foot

  inside. The two men then went into the garage for a smoke and to await developments. Checks were made and although Mary’s leg was badly bitten, she was still alive. “The damned snakes

  didn’t work,” exclaimed James, adding, “I’m going to drown her.” The semi-conscious woman was put in the bathtub and then transferred to the garden pond where she

  finally expired.




  Armed with Hope’s confession, police went in search of James who they found engaging in a spot of sado-masochism with one of his consorts. In due course, Charles Hope was sentenced to life

  imprisonment for his part in the murder. Robert James was given the death sentence and spent four years on Death Row in San Quentin where, unsurprisingly, he was known as “Rattlesnake”.

  He was hanged on 1 May 1942, and was the last man in California to be so executed. After this, death sentences were carried out in the gas chamber.




  A Dog That Barked




  The violent death of a wealthy widow, signalled by the barking of her dog, was judged on first appearances to be a mysterious murder in a locked room. The eventual

  explanation proved to be more commonplace.




  In the summer of 1969, tragedy struck a residential suburb of Salisbury, Rhodesia, with the death of fifty-eight-year-old Mrs Whitworth. A widow, she lived alone, except for

  her dog, and led an active life looking after her garden and engaging in sporting pursuits.




  Neighbours were disturbed by the constant barking of Mrs Whitworth’s dog throughout the night. The following morning, a near neighbour telephoned to ask if everything was OK. There was no

  reply, so he walked over to the bungalow and knocked on the door. Again, no reply. When he looked through the bedroom window, he could see a pair of feet on the floor close to the bed. Fearing

  there had been an accident, he called the police.




  Officers entered the bungalow through an unsecured side door but when they reached the bedroom found it locked. They burst the door open and as they did so, heard the key drop to the floor

  inside. Mrs Whitworth lay on the floor, dead from injuries to the head. She had marks on her face and had bitten her tongue, resulting in a great loss of blood, which had choked her.




  When it was discovered that she was epileptic, investigators believed she might have locked herself in her room if she felt unwell and was then overcome by a fit, which proved fatal. A search of

  the bungalow threw doubt on this explanation. Mrs Whitworth was known to be a meticulously tidy person, yet there was an empty beer bottle in the fireplace and a corned beef tin that had been

  crudely opened with a penknife. Thoughts began to gather about a possible intruder.




  Fingerprints in the bungalow were matched to a man called Mpani who was a temporary gardener. He was known to the police on account of convictions for assault. He admitted having asked Mrs

  Whitworth to lend him money or at least to give him an advance on his pay. Then he claimed that an accomplice had assaulted his employer while he simply ran away. The accomplice was tracked down

  and proved to have an unshakeable alibi. Mpani now admitted that he had killed Mrs Whitwor th.




  His story was that she had refused to lend him money and threatened him with a poker to which he responded by attacking and strangling her. When she fell, she hit her head

  which accounted for the injuries to her face. The mystery of the locked room was resolved by a simple explanation. What officers believed was the key falling inside the bedroom when they broke down

  the door was actually the latch-plate, which had broken on impact.




  Mpani explained that he dragged his victim’s body into the bedroom and placed it on the floor. When he left the room, he locked the door from the outside and, using a piece of newspaper,

  slid the key under the door and into the room. Pathologists established that Mrs Whitworth had been strangled which resulted in her badly bitten tongue.




  Mpani was brought to trial for murder and found guilty. He told the court, “I did not mean to kill her but a devil got into me”.




  


     

  




  
CHAPTER 2





  Parts and Parcels




  One of the first challenges facing a murderer is what to do about the victim’s body. The first instinct is probably to escape from the scene of the crime and abandon

  the body to forensic scrutiny by investigators. This is a risky strategy, however, especially if there has been contact between victim and perpetrator, as this usually yields important

  investigative evidence. Strangling, stabbing and bludgeoning offer ample opportunity for the transfer of contact traces such as blood, hair and fibres. Shooting, on the other hand, puts distance

  between victim and killer, but firearms evidence has powerfully incriminating qualities. While it may involve close contact, poisoning is subtle and gives scope to ingenuity on the part of the

  clever operator, with many ways to disguise his true purpose and simulate natural causes.




  Disposal of a body requires both method and resourcefulness. The chief purpose is concealment or, at least, to delay discovery of the crime with the idea that no body equals no crime, which,

  as many murderers have discovered, is not necessarily the case.




  Burial may seem an obvious choice but the perpetrator immediately encounters the first challenge. Moving the body of an adult, when it is literally a dead weight, is not an easy task for one

  person without assistance. A burial also requires a degree of secrecy and is usually carried out during the hours of darkness. Then there is the inconvenient product of burial which is the soil

  excavated from the grave. Disturbed soil is a dead giveaway for search parties.




  To overcome the difficulties of moving and transporting a corpse, murderers readily incline towards dismemberment. Reducing the body to small components allows parts to be parcelled up for

  easier disposal – at least, that is the theory. In practice, there is the revelation that the process is, to a very high degree, messy. For a start, the average human body

  contains at least six and a half litres of blood. Once this major body fluid is released, it gets everywhere – it drips, splashes, stains and leaves trails.




  For this problem, and where dismemberment is part of a preconceived plan, the murderer may have noted the availability of a bath in which to place the body or have had the foresight to

  acquire some plastic sheeting. Choice of tools for dismemberment may involve visits to hardware stores to buy knives, saws, axes and other implements of the slicing and dicing trade. Some

  operators, such as Simone Weber in 1985, have recourse to an electric saw, which provides speedy lopping of the limbs but tends to increase the mess factor. For the medical practitioner turned

  murderer, there is the option of risking identification by demonstrating skill at disarticulation. In 1928 Dr Frank Westlake’s dismemberment of his victim betrayed his medical

  background.




  The object of dismemberment is to render the victim’s body to manageable proportions. Using her particular technique, Mme Weber, filled seventeen plastic bags with human remains. The

  astute murderer will target his victim’s head for severance and separate disposal, hence the high proportion of headless torsos that turn up lacking the most obvious means of

  identification.




  Once the body has been reduced to a number of basic components, the resultant parts may be individually wrapped for disposal. Unless carefully thought out in advance, this usually means the

  murderer grabs whatever clothing, bedsheets, blankets or sacks that may be at hand to make a bundle or parcel. Newspaper has proved to be a popular material for this purpose, even though this may

  well offer clues as to the place and date of the crime. Dr Ruxton wrapped parts of one of his victims in a special edition of a Sunday newspaper, which conveniently provided investigators with

  vital co-ordinates of his crimes.




  Having rendered the victim’s remains into a number of conveniently-sized bundles or parcels, the murderer still faces the problem of disposal. The chronicles of crime amply demonstrate

  the extraordinary lengths to which murderers are prepared to go to accomplish this task. In 1851 William Sheward dumped parcels of body parts in and around the city of Norwich

  and James Greenacre made several trips on foot and by omnibus with a similar mission in London in 1836.




  Transportation by car and casual disposal in a stream close to the roadside was the method favoured by Dr Ruxton in 1935. While Donald Hume, a decade later, took to the skies in a light

  aircraft to drop his airmail parcels over the Essex mudflats. Others have used car transport and rail services to deliver unwanted body parts to distant places using suitcases and trunks.




  Trunk murderers occupy a special place in the pantheon of odious criminals. Prominent among this band of luggage specialists was Winnie Ruth Judd, who in 1931, accompanied the dismembered

  remains of her two victims packed in trunks on a train journey from Phoenix to Los Angeles. Trunk murderers, and those who delay too long in deciding on their disposal option, face the inevitable

  consequences of decomposition and its accompanying stench.




  A popular disposal method is to dump parcels of remains in water. This offers the temporary satisfaction of putting grisly remains out of sight and out of mind, but water has the uncanny

  knack of delivering up the dead, as Donald Hume discovered. In 1927 James McKay dumped his murdered mother’s body parts in the River Clyde but they came back to haunt him.




  Even destruction by fire or acid is not foolproof and, as many killers have discovered, the human frame is remarkably resilient. Teeth, in particular, possess amazing powers of

  indestructibility. John Perry in 1990 went to great lengths to destroy his wife’s remains, including her skull, but there were enough teeth left to provide identification.




  What to do with the head of the victim is a problem that has taxed the ingenuity of many murderers. Fred Thorn went to the trouble of encasing his victim’s head in plaster of Paris

  while Dr Herman Schmitz kept his trophy in a jar of preservative.




  Heads and skulls have exerted a special fascination for murderers when dealing with their victims and also for the enforcers of law and order when dealing with murderers. Ned Kelly’s

  skull became the object of controversy when it was stolen in 1990. The Australian authorities were so concerned about the possible desecration of the body after Thomas Griffin

  was executed in 1868, that his head was removed before burial. The ploy did not succeed and the head ended up as a trophy.




  The tragic fate of Fanny Adams in 1867 and the two fingers shown to the authorities in Vienna in 1926 by Dr Herman Schmitz are among the infamous references to body parts.




  Sweet Fanny Adams




  “Sweet Fanny Adams” was the name given by British sailors in the Royal Navy to canned meat that formed part of their rations. This was a coarse reference to a

  young girl who had been murdered in a field in Hampshire on a warm summer’s day in 1867.




  Eight-year-old Fanny Adams, together with her sister and a friend, left their homes in Alton to play in the nearby fields. Their favourite spot was Flood Meadow, which bordered the River Wey and

  was shallow enough for paddling.




  At about 5.00 p.m. on 24 August, Fanny’s two companions returned to their homes without her. They explained that they had seen William Baker who worked as clerk to a local solicitor and he

  spoke to them. He offered Fanny a halfpenny to go with him and he had given money to the other girls who, left to their own devices, continued playing by the river until it was time to go home.




  Fanny’s mother and a neighbour immediately set out to look for the eight-year-old. Early in their search, they encountered William Baker. They asked him about Fanny and, while he admitted

  giving money to her friends, said he knew nothing about her. Reassured by their conversation, Mrs Adams returned home, assuming her daughter had gone off to play on her own and would soon

  return.




  When Fanny had not returned home by 7.00 p.m. a proper search was organized and her body was soon discovered in a hop field. The child had been brutally attacked and mutilated. Her head was

  severed from the body, the eyes and one ear were missing and the abdomen disembowelled. The remains were strewn about on the ground.




  As the last person known to have seen the dead girl, William Baker immediately came under suspicion. The twenty-nine-year-old clerk was only saved from a violent end at the

  hands of Fanny’s father by the intervention of the police. Baker was arrested and two small knives, one of which was bloodstained, were found in his possession. There were also traces of

  blood on his clothes.




  A search of Baker’s desk at the office where he worked produced the most incriminating evidence. His diary entry for the day of the murder read, “Killed a young girl – it was

  fine and hot.”




  Baker, the subject of great public hostility, was tried for murder at Winchester. He was an articulate man and tried to talk his way to innocence by saying the knives found on him were too small

  for mutilation and that the children had lied about him. In his defence, it was stated that a failed love affair had left him depressed and suicidal and he was stressed by overwork. None of this

  impressed the jury who found him guilty and were not inclined to mercy. William Baker was executed before a crowd of five thousand at Winchester on Christmas Eve 1867. Poor Fanny’s memorial

  lay in the sailors’ reference to the contents of their canned food.




  Pre-Nuptials




  Briton James Greenacre had contracted several profitable marriages and was planning his fourth wedding, to Hannah Brown, on Christmas Day 1836. On Christmas Eve, they met

  at his house in Camberwell, London, to discuss their plans. His tactic was to call off the wedding because he believed Hannah had been using his name to obtain credit while, contrary to his

  expectations, she had no money of her own. Hannah was not seen alive again, although parts of her began appearing in different places.




  On 28 December, a package was found on the Edgware Road lying in a pool of frozen blood. When the sacking was pulled open, a female trunk emerged with the arms intact but legs and head missing.

  Just over a week later a head was retrieved from the Regent’s Canal at Stepney. This second find matched the torso found earlier. Two months later, a large bundle was found

  in a ditch at Camberwell. This contained the legs belonging to the other body parts already recovered.




  It would be another three weeks before the dismembered body, now re-assembled, would be identified. A man whose sister had been missing for three months identified the remains as Hannah Brown.

  It was known that she had last been seen in the company of James Greenacre, the man she intended to marry.




  Greenacre was preparing for flight with a female companion, Sarah Gale, heading for America. Some of their trunks were already on board their passenger ship. These were taken for examination and

  the contents included cloth identical to the wrapping used on some of the body parts. Greenacre was arrested along with his lady friend, whom he attempted to absolve from any involvement in the

  crime.




  His explanation was that Hannah had tipped up her chair and fallen badly, damaging her head. He later changed his story, saying that he was so incensed by Hannah’s false statements

  regarding her property that he hit her with a wooden roller and killed her. Following his confession, he gave a detailed account of how he disposed of her dismembered corpse. He thought to disarm

  any suspicion by dumping his parcels in broad daylight, believing this would appear less furtive than operating at night.




  Having been tried and convicted of murder, Greenacre spent his time leading up to execution writing an autobiography. He portrayed himself as an industrious and respectable individual who had

  been elected to the office of overseer of his parish. His calculation was made evident when he attempted to engineer another marriage after murdering Hannah by advertising for a partner with money.

  Greenacre ended his life on the scaffold and the woman he planned to take with him to America was sentenced to transportation.




  Trophy Cabinet




  An Irish immigrant to Australia became Chief Constable at Brisbane and was drawn into crime by the lure of gold. After his execution for murder, the authorities went to

  great lengths to prevent his head being taken as a trophy. That they failed said a great deal about the lawlessness of the 1860s.




  Thomas Griffin took advantage of a free passage offered to former soldiers to start a new life in Australia in 1856. With his new wife he set up a boarding house in Melbourne but, wanting some

  more excitement in his life, he joined the police and rapidly rose through the ranks.




  By 1867, at the height of the gold rush, he was Gold Commissioner at Rockhampton. His job was to buy the precious metal from the miners. On 27 October, he set out with an armed escort to carry

  notes and coins worth £4,000 across the Mackenzie River to Claremont. Troopers John Power and Patrick Cahill guarded the ten canvas bags containing the money.




  When they reached the river crossing on their 200-mile journey, Griffin decided to return to Rockhampton, leaving the two troopers to continue without him. Soon after he arrived back at

  Rockhampton he called at the police office asking if it was true that the gold escort had been killed. Indeed, the dramatic news had just been received that Power and Cahill had been found dead in

  the bush and the money gone.




  Griffin was very forthright in his theories about what had happened. In response to reports that the troopers had been poisoned, he said it was a false report, “. . . they are shot,

  you’ll see if they aren’t.” A small group of men, including a doctor, decided to visit the scene. Griffin volunteered to drive the trap but handled it so dangerously that the

  doctor asked him to step down before they were all killed.




  Once they reached the scene of the crime, it became clear that the troopers had been shot, bearing out Griffin’s prophecy. The suspicion that had settled on him intensified as a result of

  a round of drinks he had bought at a tavern in Rockhampton, paid for with a one pound note. The note was part of the consignment that had been stolen and, unbeknown to Griffin,

  its number recorded.




  Griffin was arrested on suspicion of murder and, despite the circumstantial nature of the evidence, was found guilty at his trial in Rockhampton. While in the condemned cell he tried to persuade

  his jailors to help him escape and made references to the whereabouts of the stolen money. No deals were done and he faced the hangman with the words, “Go on. I am ready.”




  In an extraordinary sequel to Griffin’s career, first as law enforcer and then as law breaker, there were fears that an attempt would be made to remove his head from his corpse. To prevent

  this, the authorities arranged that another body would be buried on top of his in the same grave. Despite this precaution, his head was removed and the skull displayed as a grisly trophy in the

  surgery of the doctor who had complained about his driving.




  Par Avion




  A farm labourer hunting wild fowl in the Essex mud flats in the UK on 21 October 1949 discovered a headless torso in the water. The grisly remains were clad in a silk shirt

  and underpants wrapped up in a parcel with grey felt and rope. There was evidence of stab wounds in the chest and the lower limbs appeared to have been severed using a sharp knife and saw.




  The remains were identified by fingerprints held on file at Scotland Yard. The dead man was Stanley Setty, a car dealer and black marketeer who had a conviction for fraud. He was last seen on 4

  October – a day when he had made several car deals for cash. One of Setty’s associates was Donald Hume, a former serviceman in the Royal Air Force, who held a civilian pilot’s

  licence.




  The police checked up on Hume’s movements and learned that he had hired a light aircraft from the United Services Flying Club at Elstree on 5 October. He had taken off from the airfield

  carrying two parcels as freight. Hume was located on 26 October and questioned about the purpose of his flight.




  His explanation was that he had agreed for a payment of £50 to ditch at sea two parcels containing parts of a printing press used to produce counterfeit petrol coupons.

  On his return, the man with whom he had been dealing offered him a further £100 to dump another parcel. Hume described the parcel as bulky and there was a gurgling noise when he moved it

  which made him think it might be a body.




  Nothing Hume had said could be corroborated and he was arrested and charged with murdering Stanley Setty. At his Old Bailey trial in January 1950, the prosecution set out a scenario whereby Hume

  killed Setty in the living room of his flat and then had the carpet cleaned and wiped the place clean of fingerprints. The jury were unable to agree a verdict and were discharged. A new jury was

  sworn in and as the prosecution declined to offer any evidence against him, the judge directed that they should return a verdict of not guilty. He was, though, found guilty of being an accessory to

  murder and was sentenced to twelve years’ imprisonment.




  Hume was released from Dartmoor Prison in February 1958 and in May, he travelled to Switzerland. In June, his confession to murder appeared in a Sunday newspaper, with the headline, ‘I

  killed Setty . . . And Got Away With Murder’. He was safe in the knowledge that he could not be charged again with the same offence.




  He was involved in bank robberies in the London area in 1958 before returning to Switzerland. On 30 January 1959, in the aftermath of robbing the Gewerbe Bank of Zurich, he shot and killed a

  taxi-driver. As he fled from the scene, he was pursued by members of the public who held him captive until the police arrived.




  Hume was tried for murder in a Zurich court in September when he pleaded guilty. The jury found him guilty of murder, attempted murder, robbery and other offences. He was sentenced to life

  imprisonment with hard labour. In August 1976, having served seventeen years, Hume was returned to Britain. Following psychiatric examination, he was admitted to Broadmoor where he died, aged

  sixty-seven, in 1988.




  If The Shoe Fits . . .




  A rail track inspector working on the line between Aberdeen and Edinburgh in Scotland on 24 March 1969 found a parcel. On inspection it was found to contain the severed leg

  of a human female, the limb still clad in a nylon stocking. On the same day, another parcel was found about four miles away; it contained the other leg.




  Pathological examination determined that the remains were those of a female in the age range of thirty to forty. The police checked all the missing persons lists for the United Kingdom and used

  the broad description of the dismembered woman in a process of elimination. The police made an appeal on press and television for anyone with information about a missing neighbour or acquaintance

  to come forward.




  On 26 March, a thirty-five-year-old man, James Keenan, reported that his wife, Elizabeth, was missing from their home in Lanark. She had been gone about six days following a domestic argument,

  leaving their baby to be looked after by her mother. The report had the sound of a fairly commonplace domestic upset and no immediate action was proposed.




  As part of the ongoing process of eliminating women from the missing persons register, detectives asked Keenan if he would give them a pair of his wife’s shoes. When the shoes were tried

  on the amputated limbs, they were found to fit perfectly. At the end of April, in a copse about a mile from the Keenan’s home, a headless torso wrapped in a blanket was discovered by

  passers-by. A check on fingerprints and an abdominal scar proved that these were the remains of Elizabeth Keenan.




  Keenan’s house was searched and investigations found evidence in the bathroom of an intensive clean up. Traces of blood were found in the bath waste outlet. Keenan, nicknamed

  “Tarzan” by his workmates on account of his bodybuilding, was arrested and charged with murder.




  Keenan admitted killing his wife with an axe following a quarrel and described how he cut up her body with a hacksaw and wrapped it in pieces of blanket. He put the parcelled-up segments of the

  body in the boot of his car and drove his child to his mother-in-law’s house for her to look after, then drove around distributing his parcels. He led police to a wooded

  area near Carnwath where he had left the head of his murdered wife. James Keenan was tried at the High Court in Edinburgh on 3 June 1969 where he pleaded guilty to murder. He said that after he

  killed his wife he drank a bottle of whisky and the next thing he remembered was seeing her cut up in the bath. He was sentenced to life imprisonment.




  Kelly’s Head




  The notorious Australian bushranger Ned Kelly became a cult figure after his execution in 1880. Unlike many criminals of this era, he had not been transported to Australia

  from England, although his father had. Kelly senior was transported to the penal settlement at Van Diemen’s Land (modern Tasmania) in 1842. He worked on convict gangs for seven years before

  being released. His years of servitude brought a hatred of law and order which was inherited by his son, Ned.




  The Kelly gang were notorious for their exploits, roaming at will and using their knowledge to hide when trouble loomed and to protect their friends. They had virtual free reign because the

  police were spread so thinly; in the northeast of New South Wales, an area of over 10,000 square miles, there were fifty officers.




  It was in this sprawling territory, known as Kelly country, that Ned Kelly shot and killed Constable Thomas Lonigan. This was the crime committed at Stringybank Creek in October 1878 for which

  Kelly would eventually have to answer. During the next two years there was a spate of bank robberies and other escapades. But, on 27 June 1880, Kelly and three of his gang were located at

  Glenrowan. The police called for backup and the rebels were surrounded by fifty armed officers. Wearing improvised armour consisting of pieces of scrap iron and cooking pots, Kelly tried to shoot

  his way to freedom.




  In the fire-fight that followed, all of Kelly’s followers were killed and he was taken prisoner. In due course, Ned Kelly was tried at Melbourne for the murder of PC Lonigan. He was convicted of the crime and sentenced to death. The judge, in passing sentence, used the customary words, “And may the Lord have mercy on your soul” to which Ned Kelly

  reputedly replied, “Yes, I will see you there.” Kelly was hanged on 1 November 1880 and Mr Justice Barry died two weeks later.




  Kelly became a figure of legend and folklore, featuring in films and books. After he was executed, his head was removed from his corpse and his skull was subsequently displayed in an anatomical

  museum before ending up in the prison museum at Melbourne. There the gruesome relic remained until 1978 when it was stolen. In 1999, a man living in Western Australia admitted stealing the skull

  from the museum. He said that as “an angry young man” he could not understand how someone’s skull could end up in public custody. He reportedly believes that Ned Kelly’s

  home at Beveridge in Victoria should be restored. He refused to say where the missing skull was but said he wanted it to be buried near Kelly’s home.




  A Lot Of Work!




  In July 1927 in the US, parcels wrapped in brown paper began appearing in the Brooklyn area of New York. The first was spotted by a policeman patrolling in Battery Park, a

  second was found in a churchyard and a third near a theatre. The contents of the parcels included dismembered portions of a human body.




  Several more parcels were discovered in various parts of the city and the combined parts constituted two female bodies, minus their heads. The only available clue was the brown wrapping paper

  which originated from the Brooklyn branch of Atlantic and Pacific grocery stores.




  The police checked missing persons registers and began to focus on the disappearance of a Mrs Bennett who had last been seen entering a boarding house in Prospect Place, Brooklyn. Officers

  called and asked to speak to Sarah Brownell who ran the establishment. They were admitted to the house by one of the tenants, thirty-eight-year-old Ludwig Lee, a Norwegian who described himself as

  an odd-job man.




  Questioned about Miss Brownell’s whereabouts, Lee said, after some hesitation, that she had gone to stay with relatives. During this interview, one of the detectives

  with a keen nose, picked up the unmistakably cloying smell of decomposition which seemed to pervade the air around Lee. A search of the basement revealed various human body parts and the head of

  Mrs Bennett. Leaning against the furnace was a large axe which had evidently been cleaned recently.




  When other boarders at Prospect Park were interviewed, detectives became acquainted with Christian Jensen who worked as a clerk at Atlantic and Pacific grocery stores. He told them that he had

  given a quantity of wrapping paper to Lee who wanted it to wrap up gifts to be sent to Norway. Jensen identified his handwriting which appeared on one of the body part parcels.




  Doctors pieced together the remains of Mrs Bennett and Miss Brownell on the table in the kitchen of the boarding house. Confronted with their macabre reconstruction, Lee vigorously denied

  killing the women. The discovery in his room of Sarah Brownwell’s savings book showing deposits of $4,000 told a different story. In a final piece of theatre, the police brought Lee and

  Jensen together. The store clerk confirmed that he had provided Lee with wrapping paper. At this point, Lee broke down and confessed to murdering the two women.




  He said Mrs Bennett had come down to the basement looking for Miss Brownell and caught him in the process of disposing of her body. He killed Mrs Bennett to conceal the first murder.

  “There was nothing to do but chop them into little pieces . . .” he said, adding with reference to his parcel deliveries, “it was a lot of work – doing all that running

  around.” New York’s self-confessed parcel murderer was convicted in 1928 and went to his death in the electric chair.




  The Sausage Maker




  Adolf Luetgert emigrated to the US from Germany and set up a business in Chicago. He brought with him the skills he had learned in making sausages and his products were

  sought after. He was a man of considerable size, weighing around 109 kg (240 lb). The forty-nine-year-old also had a big sexual appetite, keeping several mistresses and

  installing a bed at his factory just in case the opportunity for coupling should arise.




  Not surprisingly Luetgert’s wife, Louisa, became fed up with his ill-disguised antics; she was also worried by the declining state of their business. For his part, Luetgert was tired of

  his wife and wanted her out of the way so that he would be free to entertain his lovers.




  Louisa disappeared on 1 May 1897 and, when her absence was noted, Luetgert told friends that he would hire private detectives to find her. Eventually, Louisa’s family reported her as a

  missing person and the police started to take an interest.




  Several searches were made of Luetgert’s sausage-making factory and investigators began to take a close look at some of the equipment, including the numerous steam vats. The vats were

  systematically drained and in one of them police found pieces of bone, some teeth and two gold rings, one of which was engraved with the initials L.L.




  Confronted with these discoveries, Luetgert tried to explain away the bone fragments as being of animal origin. He found it difficult to account for his wife’s wedding ring, however,

  particularly as it was known that because her finger joints were swollen she was unable to remove her rings.




  Luetgert was charged with murder and sent for trial. One of his employees testified that he had bought a large quantity of potash and given instructions that it was to be crushed and put in one

  of the steam vats. Luetgert was seen late one evening tending the vat and next morning his workers cleaned up a sticky sludge that had run out on to the floor.




  While all this was circumstantial evidence, the sausage-maker’s mistresses used his trial to take their revenge. One of these ladies said he told her he hated his wife and “could

  take her and crush her”. Another of his mistresses told the court that he had given her a bloodstained knife for safe-keeping after Louisa disappeared.




  Luetgert consistently maintained his innocence but the jury at his trial in 1898 found him guilty and he was sentenced to life imprisonment. He died at Joliet State

  Penitentiary in 1911. Chicago’s appetite for sausages declined after Luetgert’s trial but it was by no means certain that Louisa became sausage meat. Her sad fate was to be boiled into

  sludge.




  Bunker Mentality




  Men towing a barge on the River Clyde in Scotland on 15 October 1927 spotted an odd-looking bundle on the bank. They retrieved it and on unwrapping it their curiosity was

  rewarded by the discovery of a collection of human remains. There was a head, two legs sawn off below the knee, an upper leg and an arm. The grisly remnants also included bits of clothing and a

  newspaper dated 9 October 1926.




  The body was quickly identified as Agnes Arbuckle whose home was in Main Street, Glasgow. The police lost no time in making a house call where they found the dead woman’s son, James

  M’Kay, sitting by the fire eating a meal. In answer to questions, he said, “She is dead – she died about ten days ago. I put part of her in the Clyde and the rest is in the

  bunker.”




  The bunker, which was in the main room of the house, contained coal, underneath which was buried the rest of Mrs Arbuckle’s dismembered remains. In the style of popular reporting, the

  discovery was referred to as “The Body in the Bunker”.




  Local enquiries elicited the information that M’Kay had sought help from a friend to move a large, heavy trunk from Mrs Arbuckle’s house to his lodgings. This occurred on 12 October

  and, the following day, M’Kay was observed returning to Main Street with the trunk. A neighbour gave a graphic description of his dishevelled appearance, dirty clothes and shoes and with his

  hair standing on end above his wild, staring eyes.




  A few months before she died, M’Kay had insured his mother’s life and when arrested he had writing materials on the kitchen table where he was attempting to forge a will and other

  documents. Mrs Arbuckle had been a thrifty person and had a nest egg in the bank amounting to eighty-three pounds, which she had not touched for fourteen years.




  M’Kay was tried for murder at Glasgow in December 1927. An insanity defence was put forward on his behalf but the jury found him guilty as charged and he was sentenced

  to death. So desperate was he to profit from his mother’s death that he removed her dentures and attempted to sell them. After he was sentenced to death for murdering her, he called out to

  his wife, “Cheer up!”




  The case made Scottish legal history by being referred to the High Court of Judiciary at Edinburgh. It was the first appeal of its kind under newly enacted legislation. The Court was asked to

  accept that while M’Kay had dismembered his mother’s body, it was not proved that he had murdered her. It was argued that he might have come home and found her already dead and,

  believing that he would be held responsible, decided to conceal the body.




  This was not an argument that carried much conviction and the prosecutor asked the court to consider the kind of man who would kill and dismember his own mother and then remove the dentures from

  her mouth and try to sell them. The Court dismissed the appeal and James M’Kay was hanged at Duke Street Prison, Glasgow on 24 January 1928.




  Body In The Boot




  Twenty-year-old Stephanie Skidmore lived in West Auckland, New Zealand, in a part of the city devoted to the sex trade. She lived with her boyfriend, Jason Menzies, and

  twenty-month-old baby. She was last seen alive on 12 May 1996 when she left home after a disagreement.




  Concerned about the loss of contact, Stephanie’s mother, who lived in the USA, made several repeated telephone calls to Auckland. She spoke to Menzies who explained that Stephanie had left

  him. He disagreed that he should report her disappearance to the authorities. The couple had frequent arguments and Stephanie had apparently gone off before.




  After further phone calls, Menzies agreed to report her as a missing person which he did on 11 June, nearly a month after she was last seen. The police concentrated their

  enquiries in the red light district where Stephanie had involvement with prostitution and nightclubs. They pieced together a picture of an erratic young woman with a history of running away from

  home. She had met Jason Menzies in 1993 and, from all accounts, the couple had a troubled relationship.




  Police enquiries established that money had been withdrawn from Stephanie’s bank account six days after she went missing. Only she could have done this unless someone else had access to

  her PIN number. Her friends were convinced that it was unlikely she would have abandoned her baby.




  On 27 June, Menzies appeared on nationwide television seeking information from the public in the search for Stephanie. By this time, police were beginning to take a keen interest in Menzies who

  had made a number of decisions about income support and other matters which suggested he did not expect Stephanie to return.




  Officers visited Menzies’ home. It seemed he liked cars and there were six vehicles parked at the rear of his flat. These were searched and in the boot of one of them was a bundle wrapped

  in an assortment of plastic sheeting and bedclothes tied up with cord. Once unravelled, the bundle was found to contain the decomposing body of Stephanie.




  Menzies was arrested and charged with murder. He was tried at the High Court in May 1997. The prosecution case was that he had strangled Stephanie in their flat. He claimed her death was an

  accident arising over an argument about who should make scrambled eggs. He said she was high on drugs and out of control. She attacked him with a knife and in the struggle that followed he

  throttled her.




  Once she was dead, he wrapped the body up and kept it in the flat for several days while he went about his normal affairs, including looking after the baby. He elicited the help of friends to

  move the body into the boot of the car where it was eventually found by the police.




  The prosecutor dismissed Menzies’s claims that he had acted in self-defence, saying that he lied to save his skin. The jury found him guilty of murder and he was sentenced to life imprisonment. His failure to dispose of the body had inevitably led to his certain downfall.




  The Sunday Roast




  Forty-seven-year-old John Perry, a factory worker from Wales in the UK, met his future wife on a holiday in the Philippines in June 1984. Arminda was half his age and had a

  young daughter. They joined Perry in Wales and Arminda, who changed her name to Annabelle, became his wife.




  Their marriage soon got into difficulty due chiefly to Annabelle’s promiscuous ways. She made herself available to other men, which infuriated Perry and arguments ensued. One of the

  problems was that he worked a nightshift, which enabled the marital bed to be used by Annabelle to entertain her men friends.




  In 1990, Annabelle asked for a divorce to which Perry responded by unsuccessfully trying to have her deported. A settlement was agreed whereby Perry would pay her a lump sum and regular

  maintenance for her daughter. Payment was due in February 1991 and it was then that neighbours noticed Annabelle’s absence. Perry explained that she had gone to London to work as a

  prostitute.




  On 28 February, police called at Perry’s home to enquire about his missing wife. To the question, “What happened to your wife?”, he replied, “I’ve killed

  her.” This startling response was delivered against a background of activity in the kitchen which seemed to involve a great deal of roasted meat.




  Examination of the kitchen, apart from the smell, revealed a coating of grease on every surface, an oven coated with fat and piles of cooked flesh cut into small pieces. In the garage were

  plastic containers filled with portions of cooked flesh and other body parts. Little remained that could be identified and Perry explained that he had destroyed his wife’s skull. He had not

  entirely defeated the skills of forensic science, though, for enough remained of the jaws to confirm by dental identification that the remains were those of Mrs Perry.




  John Perry was tried for murder at Mold Crown Court in November 1998. When he gave evidence he related how his world collapsed when he realized his wife was having an affair.

  He described an argument when she threatened to cut her wrist with a kitchen knife. He struggled with her to gain possession of the knife – then everything went blank. He tried to revive her

  without success and then decided to dispose of her body. At first he thought of burial but he wanted to make sure her remains would never be found so he opted for dismemberment and rendered the

  remains. Asked why he cooked the body parts, he said he remembered from his school days that a human body was composed of seven-tenths water. He believed that by cooking the body he would reduce it

  to a condition that would make its disposal easier. He used a popular family medical guide containing diagrams of human anatomy to dismember her body. When questioned, he admitted cooking the

  remains and feeding some to the cat.




  The jury returned a majority verdict of guilty. The judge spoke about Perry’s chilling and ruthless efficiency and the fact that he had not shown the slightest remorse at what he had done.

  The self-taught anatomist was sentenced to life imprisonment.




  Secret Burial




  While working as an airline official at Manchester airport in the UK in 1959, Peter Reyn-Bardt met thirty-two-year-old Malika Maria de Fernandez and within three days they

  had married. Their wedding photograph showed a happy, smiling couple, but for Reyn-Bardt, it was a marriage of convenience. He was a homosexual and he believed that being married would give him

  credibility with his employer.




  Friction soon intruded on the marital scene and the couple decided to lead separate lives. Reyn-Bardt moved to a cottage near Wilmslow, Cheshire, where he lived with his homosexual partner. In

  the space of nine months he and Malika married, argued and split-up.




  In October 1960, Malika turned up at the cottage demanding money. In his statements to the police, Reyn-Bardt claimed that she came at him, clawing at his face, after he

  refused her demands. He remembered grabbing her around the neck and shaking her. Then she was lying dead at his feet. He said the attack was not premeditated. “Something just boiled over

  inside me,” he said. He could not remember how he killed her.




  Faced with the dead body of his wife, Reyn-Bardt decided on dismemberment. He used an axe to sever the head and limbs and attempted to burn them in his garden. When this failed, he buried the

  remains.




  Then, twenty-two years later, came the discovery of a human skull in the peat bog close to Reyn-Bardt’s cottage. An excavator driver digging out peat for a commercial contractor unearthed

  the skull about 300 yards from the property. The fact that the skull was that of a female aged around thirty fitted Malika. Questioned by the police in June 1983, Reyn-Bardt admitted killing

  her.




  He was sent for trial at Chester Crown Court in December 1983. Reyn-Bardt pleaded not guilty to the charge of murder. His defence was that he had struggled with his wife after she attacked him

  but he could not recall what happened afterwards. The supreme irony of the case was provided by testimony from a professor at Oxford University’s department of archaeology. He said that the

  age of the human skull had been carbon dated to around the year 410 AD.




  The jury brought in a majority verdict of guilty and Reyn-Bardt was sentenced to life imprisonment. Among the mysteries concerning Malika was that her remains have not been found and her origins

  were not clear either. On her marriage certificate she was described as a portrait painter and her father’s name was recorded as Benjamin Mendoza de Fernandez. Attempts to locate him proved

  fruitless.




  “Piggy Palace”




  The Downtown-Eastside district of Vancouver in Canada was a rundown area and home to drug addicts, pimps and prostitutes. A third of the population of the area fell into

  one or other of these categories, and the rate of HIV infection was the highest in North America. Initially, when young women began disappearing without trace in Vancouver in

  1983, the police were reluctant to accept that a serial killer was at large. They believed they were dealing with a transient population and when one of their number suggested that the statistical

  concentration of missing people indicated something more sinister, he was not taken seriously. But, eventually, after a period of twenty years, when more than sixty women had gone missing and

  bowing to pressure from missing women’s families and the media, an investigation team was assembled.




  The investigative trail led to a farm at Port Coquitlam, twenty miles east of the city, run by the Pickton brothers, and to the stabbing of a prostitute. Robert Pickton was charged with this

  offence but the case was dropped.




  Slowly, a pattern emerged at what life down on the farm was like. Pickton ran a late night drinking den in a barn, which he called Piggy Palace. Female drug addicts and prostitutes were among

  the clientele. A notice on the farm gate warned off intruders – “This property protected by a pit bull with AIDS”.




  Police began to receive calls from the public about activities at the farm and in 2002 Robert Pickton was arrested in connection with an enquiry about weapons. A search of the premises turned up

  some interesting artefacts in the freezer: two human heads and assorted severed hands and feet. This discovery led to a two-year investigation by forensic teams who searched through 370,000 cubic

  metres of mud and farm waste looking for human remains. They also took over 200,000 DNA samples. Traces of thirty women were found on the seven-hectare farm.




  As news of the grim discoveries reached the press, fears were expressed locally that human remains might have found their way into food products via Pickton’s pig feed. It later transpired

  that he put body parts through a wood chipper.




  Robert Pickton, who liked to be called Willy, was a regular user of prostitutes, many of whom had a $500-a-day drug habit. He associated with Hell’s Angels and was thought by many to be

  weird. Apart from his parties at Piggy Palace, he kept a low profile. He was charged with the murders of twenty-seven women and sent for trial on six counts based on the

  identification of human remains found at his barn.




  Initially, he pleaded not guilty but then claimed he had killed forty-nine women. He allegedly told a fellow remand prisoner, “I was going to do one more and make it an even fifty.”

  The evidence against him was unchallengeable but the jury at British Colombia’s Supreme Court took ten days to reach their verdict in December 2007. They found fifty-eight-year-old Pickton

  guilty of six murders and he received an automatic life sentence. He still faces charges over twenty other deaths and police investigations into forty other missing women continue.




  Two Fingers!




  In Austria, Vienna’s Police Commissioner Weitzel was startled to find he had been sent the well-manicured, surgically removed digit from a woman’s right hand.

  This surprise package, received on April Fools’ Day in 1926, was followed some days later by another finger, complete with a gold ring.




  Inspection of the surface of the ring indicated it had been etched with what investigators believed might have been the type of acid used to remove tattoos. Microscopic examination of the finger

  confirmed this theory with the discovery of faint tattoo marks in the form of a snake.




  While detectives visited tattoo parlours in the city to find a source for the snake design, enquiries took an unexpected turn when the headless body of a woman, minus two fingers from the right

  hand, was found in swampy ground. A footprint left in soft soil near the body suggested the involvement of a heavily built man and the surgical skill evident in the removal of the fingers led

  detectives to think their quarry was a surgeon.




  By a process of elimination, they came up with the name of Dr Herman Schmitz. He fitted the weight criteria and his medical background was highly relevant. The doctor had suffered a decline in

  his practice following charges of malpractice. Despite being exonerated of any wrongdoing, the stigma remained.




  Enquiries revealed that Dr Schmitz was married with two children and that he also had a mistress, all of whom were fit and well. Further scrutiny of his background showed that

  his mistress frequented a particular dress shop where her purchases were charged to the doctor’s account. Significantly, his previous mistress, Anna Stein, had enjoyed the same privilege and

  she was now missing.




  Attention immediately switched to the woman’s body, minus its head and two fingers, which lay in the mortuary. Next came a search of Dr Schmitz’s consulting rooms where officers

  found the head of Anna Stein immersed in preservative. The outcome of tests on the body was that she had been poisoned with cyanide.




  It was presumed that the doctor had killed her to make way for his new lover. He then hit on the idea of literally giving two fingers to the police to taunt them and perhaps to get his own back

  for what he saw as the injustice of being prosecuted for malpractice. Unfortunately for him, his taunt came at a price because he had failed to remove all traces of the identifying tattoo.




  While in custody, Dr Schmitz made a bid for freedom and, in the course of his escape, fell from the top of a building. He made a dying confession of murder and Vienna’s police museum

  acquired a new exhibit in the form of two fingers.




  A Secret No More




  A man out walking his dog in Norwich in the UK on a summers’ day in 1851 was surprised when the animal rooted out a piece of flesh which turned out to be a human

  hand. The discovery was reported to the police and there was great public curiosity at the prospect of finding more human remains.




  Search parties aided by dogs scoured the countryside and in the days following the initial discovery, a foot, pelvis, several vertebrae and sundry gobbets of flesh were retrieved. Doctors

  examining the remains believed they were of a woman aged between sixteen and twenty-six.




  Posters were printed seeking information, especially about any missing women. Meanwhile searches continued in a radius of two to three miles from the centre of Norwich and

  further discoveries were made. Another foot and hand turned up, together with some intestines and pieces of flesh, all in different locations.




  Curiously, there was no coroner’s inquest and interest waned as other events captured the public imagination. The unidentified remains were preserved in spirit and after several months,

  were emptied into a hole dug in the basement of Norwich Guildhall and covered with lime.




  Time went by and the remains of the woman lay out of sight and out of mind. Then, eighteen years later, out of the blue, came a confession to murder. On 1 January 1869, a man appeared at

  Walworth Police Station in London and declared, “I have a charge to make against myself.” Asked to explain himself, he said that he had murdered his first wife at Norwich, adding,

  “I have kept the secret for years and can keep it no longer.” He identified himself as William Sheward.




  Sheward was put in a cell overnight and questioned the following morning. He stated that he cut his wife’s throat with a razor on 15 June 1851 and then cut up the body. He was charged with

  murder and remanded pending enquiries in Norwich. Many of those involved in the original investigation had since died. Relatives of Martha Sheward provided a description of her, with particular

  reference to her golden hair. The man who had found a piece of skin back in 1851 remarked on the golden colour of the hair attached to it. Direct comparison with the remains mouldering in the earth

  under the Guildhall proved impossible; all that was left were a few bones.




  Sheward was sent for trial at Norfolk Assizes where he appeared in March 1869. After hearing the evidence the judge advised the jury that they needed to answer three questions: was Martha

  Sheward dead? was she murdered? were the remains hers? All the answers appeared to have been affirmative when the jury returned its guilty verdict. The judge pronounced sentence of death and

  Sheward was taken to the City Gaol.




  While awaiting execution, he made a confession. He said he and Martha had “a slight altercation” over money. “Then I ran the razor into her throat.” He

  continued by giving a detailed account of which body parts he disposed of on which days. He had put his wife’s head in a saucepan and boiled it before breaking it up for disposal.




  Execution was set for 20 April when fifty-seven-year-old Sheward, badly crippled with rheumatism, shuffled to the gallows. The hangman did his work while 2,000 people waited outside the prison

  gates. His confession was published and The Times described it as a “shocking and disgusting narrative . . .”.




  Out Of The Deep




  Visitors to the Coogee Beach aquarium in Australia admired a tiger shark and its graceful movement in the water when the creature experienced what might be described as a

  stomach upset. Out of the shark’s mouth came a human arm which, on closer inspection, was seen to bear a tattoo of a pair of boxers squaring up to each other. This exotic discovery in April

  1935 sparked off one of Australia’s most enduring murder mysteries.




  With the evidence of the tattoo and by taking fingerprints from the severed arm, investigators were able to identify its owner as James Smith, a forty-year-old ex-boxer. Smith was employed at

  the Sydney boatbuilding yard operated by Reg Holmes and had been missing for two weeks.




  Smith had spent a holiday in a rented cottage at Cronulla with Patrick Brady who was known to the police as a forger. The police had stumbled on an intricate web of underworld dealings. Brady

  was questioned and denied killing Smith but implicated Reg Holmes in criminal activities.




  While Brady was in custody, there was an incident in Sydney harbour involving Holmes. His speedboat was stopped after a chase and when police boarded it they found Holmes lying injured with a

  bullet wound to the head that turned out to be superficial. He claimed that he had been trying to get away from a gunman who was attempting to kill him. Holmes admitted knowing Brady and accused

  him of killing Smith and disposing of his body.




  Brady was charged with Smith’s murder and while he was in custody, Reg Holmes was shot dead in his car. Telling his wife he was meeting a friend, Holmes left his home on

  the evening of 11 June saying he would be home before 9.30 p.m. A witness living at Miller’s Point saw a man leaning into Holmes’ car and then heard three shots. The man walked away and

  was never identified.




  The fatal shooting of Reg Holmes occurred on the eve of the Coroner’s inquest into the Shark Arm affair at which he was due to appear as a witness. Medical evidence featured prominently at

  the inquest and doctors stated that the arm had been severed with a sharp knife, although not as part of any surgical operation. Another expert was confident that the arm had been removed from a

  dead body by the shark. Brady’s lawyer argued that an arm did not by itself constitute a body and contended that there was no conclusive proof that Smith was in fact dead.




  The inquest proved to be a stormy affair with first the widow of James Smith giving testimony and then the statement previously given to the police by Reg Holmes. The question hanging in the air

  was how much of a body was legally required for it to be accepted as a body within the meaning of the Coroner’s Act? The outcome was that, at a special hearing, Mr Justice Halse Rogers

  decided that an identified part of a body and evidence that it came from a dead body were insufficient for a Coroner’s jurisdiction.




  Patrick Brady was committed for trial but, on the basis of the circumstantial evidence put to the court, the judge acquitted him. Brady, who had protested his innocence throughout the Shark Arm

  saga died in hospital on 11 August 1965. It was believed that both Holmes and Brady had been involved in murky underworld activities. Had he lived, Holmes would have been a star trial witness. Two

  men charged with his murder were subsequently acquitted.




  An international forensic expert who examined the Shark Arm believed that Smith’s body had been dismembered and put into a trunk for disposal at sea. The arm would not fit inside the trunk

  so it was roped to the outside, worked loose in the sea and was swallowed by a shark. The police believed that the elimination of Reg Holmes dispelled any hopes of solving the

  mystery.




  The Handless Corpse




  Amateur scuba divers in the UK discovered a naked man’s body in a quarry on 14 October 1979. The hands had been cut off at the wrists and the face mutilated to

  obscure the identity of the dead man. Initial thinking was that he had been executed in some kind of gangland killing or was possibly an IRA victim.




  Then, out of the blue, two women appeared at Leyland police station to tell an amazing story about a drugs syndicate operating in several countries and turning over millions of pounds. Julie Hue

  had been in Spain with a friend, Barbara Pilkington, when she was told that the syndicate had killed her boyfriend. Fearing for her own life, she returned to the UK.




  The handless corpse was the boyfriend, twenty-seven-year-old New Zealander Martin Johnstone, a member of the drug syndicate. Sometimes known as “Mr Asia”, Johnstone ran the

  syndicate’s operations in south-east Asia. Hue and Pilkington were afraid of Andrew Maker, who had worked with Johnstone.




  Maker had sidetracked Johnstone to work on a fictitious deal in Scotland and it was Maker who shot his business associate and mutilated his body before dumping it in the flooded quarry. Others

  were involved in supplying weights to make sure the body sank in the water and providing the murder weapon.




  As the investigation spread its net, the path led to Alexander Sinclair, known as “Mr Big”, a New Zealander with a criminal record. He and his associates criss-crossed the globe

  moving drugs and money about and keeping a tight rein on their operatives. Johnstone had, apparently, stepped over a few boundaries and Sinclair gave instructions that he was to be eliminated.




  In July 1981, the plotters were put on trial at Lancaster Castle. Eight men and one woman appeared in court in proceedings that lasted 121 days. Alexander Sinclair, who was

  believed to have made £25 million from drug-dealing denied murder. Andrew Maker pleaded guilty to murder and conspiracy. James Smith who helped dispose of the body, denied murder. Keith Kirby

  denied murder; Frederick Russell, who supplied the weapon, pleaded guilty; Leila Barclay, the syndicate’s banker, pleaded guilty to drug conspiracy charges; Errol Hincksman, Christopher

  Blackman and Sylvester Pidgeon denied drug conspiracy charges.




  The jury listened to detailed allegations of an international drug operation that ended in the sordid execution of one of the main players. After deliberating for thirty-eight hours, they found

  Sinclair, Maker, Smith and Kirby guilty of murder; Russell had already pleaded guilty. Three others were convicted on drug conspiracy charges.




  Sentenced to life imprisonment and wanted in Australia in connection with five murders, Sinclair was confined in Parkhurst Prison. His death in prison was reported in 1983. He was thirty-nine

  years old and most of his drug-dealing fortune remained intact.




  I.D. On A Plate




  Daryl Suckling was a caretaker at Wyrama Station, a remote community in New South Wales, Australia. In March 1988, he and his supposed niece were invited to dinner by

  neighbours. During the evening, Sophie Carnie, detached herself from Suckling and privately told her host that she was being held captive by him against her wishes. The dinner host discreetly

  informed the police and a bizarre story began to unravel.




  Under questioning, twenty-six-year-old Sophie related how she had befriended Suckling, a man twice her age, who had served time in Pentridge Prison. She felt sorry for him because he seemed

  friendless when he was released. She invited him to live with her and her husband in Melbourne. Events took a turn for the worse when Suckling teamed up with her husband to carry out burglaries.

  Both men ended up with prison sentences.




  On his release in 1987, Suckling sought to re-establish his relationship with Sophie but she made it clear that she did not want to know. In March 1988, Suckling kidnapped

  Sophie, held her captive at his home and repeatedly raped her. He threatened to kill her saying that he had “a body buried down the wood already”.




  Sophie’s strategy was to comply with her captor’s wishes to the point where he allowed her limited freedom. This culminated in the dinner with neighbours and her opportunity to

  escape from his clutches. When police searched Suckling’s home, they found chains, handcuffs and drugs which amply supported Sophie’s story. They also found articles of female clothing,

  not belonging to Sophie, and, significantly, discovered a denture discarded in a waste disposal sack.




  Further searches turned up photographs of naked women and one in particular who appeared to be distressed and drugged. She was identified as Jodie Marie Larcombe, a twenty-one-year-old Melbourne

  prostitute, missing since December 1987. Confirmation of her identity came from the discovery of her dental plate found at Suckling’s home.




  Suckling was charged with Larcombe’s murder, although there was no body. Intensive searches using police divers and aerial surveys failed to recover the missing woman. The only evidence

  against Suckling was circumstantial. In the meantime, he was charged with the abduction and rape of Sophie Carnie but the young woman died of a drug overdose before the trial.




  In August 1989, Suckling was committed for trial for the murder of Jodie Larcombe but proceedings were dropped due to lack of evidence. The case remained open and police achieved a breakthrough

  in 1994 when a man who met Suckling in prison revealed the admissions his fellow inmate had divulged. Suckling told him that he had abducted and murdered a woman several years previously. The

  informer co-operated with investigators and in bugged conversations Suckling boasted about getting away with murder and described some of his acts of mutilation in horrific detail.




  Suckling finally stood trial for the murder of Jodie Larcombe in September 1996. New evidence was put forward, including a statement from a relative who said Suckling had

  volunteered the information that he had cut the girl’s body into pieces and buried them. Together with admissions he had made while in prison, there was, finally, sufficient evidence to

  convict him of murder. He was found guilty and sentenced to life imprisonment. Jodie Larcombe’s body has not been found.




  “Jigsaw Murder”




  The first piece of New York’s “Jigsaw Murder” turned up in the form of part of a man’s upper body found by two boys swimming in the harbour on a

  summer’s day in 1897. During the following few days, further pieces of a dismembered corpse were retrieved, sufficient to piece together a complete body with the exception of the head.
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